72608-1

FILED August 26, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

72608-1

No. 72608-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CLARENCE WRIGHT, III,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Elizabeth J. Berns

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Clarence Wright was convicted of one count of first degree burglary and two counts of first degree assault for attempting to enter the residence of a family he did not know. Mr. Wright presented a defense of diminished capacity based upon a traumatic brain injury he suffered the year prior and his intoxication at the time of the offenses. At his trial, the court inexplicably admitted evidence of a prior California robbery under ER 404(b) where the prior act was solely propensity evidence. In addition, the prosecutors committed misconduct during the cross-examination of Mr. Wright's expert by stating their opinion of the doctor's credibility and asking the doctor to offer an opinion about Mr. Wright's credibility.

Mr. Wright's sentence must be reversed where the court found by a mere preponderance of the evidence Mr. Wright had suffered two qualifying prior convictions rendering him a persistent offender, and imposing a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. In so doing, the court violated Mr. Wright's constitutionally protected right to a jury trial, his right to equal protection, and his right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt, requiring reversal of his sentence and remand for a standard range sentence.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated Mr. Wright's constitutionally protected right to due process and a fair trial when it admitted evidence of a prior California robbery which prejudiced Mr. Wright.

2. The prosecutor's misconduct during the cross-examination of Dr. Beaver violated Mr. Wright's due process right to a fair trial.

3. The trial court's imposition of a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole after a judicial finding of a qualifying prior conviction violated Mr. Wright's right to equal protection.

4. The trial court's imposition of a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole after a judicial finding of a qualifying prior conviction violated Mr. Wright's rights to a jury trial and due process.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Prior acts of a defendant are not admissible simply to prove he acted in conformity with a particular character trait. Prior acts may be admissible if relevant and they fall within one of the designated exceptions enumerated in ER 404(b). Here, the trial court admitted a prior California robbery for which Mr. Wright had not been convicted as *res gestae*, common scheme or plan evidence, and as evidence of

Mr. Wright's intent. Must this Court reverse Mr. Wright's convictions where the prior robbery was improper propensity evidence used solely to infer Mr. Wright was a thief, and the trial court's error was not harmless where the overwhelming prejudice of this evidence outweighed any limited probative value?

2. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an individual a fair trial before an impartial jury. Prosecutorial misconduct infringes on the defendant's right to a fair trial. A prosecutor commits misconduct when he or she states their opinion and asks a witness on cross-examination to render an opinion on the credibility of a party. Here, during the cross-examination of Mr. Wright's expert on diminished capacity, the prosecutor stated an opinion about the doctor's credibility and asked the doctor to render an opinion on whether Mr. Wright had been lying during his examination. Did the prosecutor's actions constitute misconduct and as a result, deny Mr. Wright a fair trial?

3. The Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 12 of the Washington Constitution require that similarly situated people be treated the same with regard to the legitimate purpose of the law. With

the purpose of punishing more harshly recidivist criminals, the Legislature has enacted statutes authorizing greater penalties for specified offenses based on recidivism. In certain instances, the Legislature has labeled the prior convictions 'elements,' requiring they be proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and in other instances has termed them 'aggravators' or 'sentencing factors,' permitting a judge to find the prior convictions by a preponderance of the evidence. Where no rational basis exists for treating similarly-situated recidivist criminals differently, and where the effect of the classification is to deny some recidivists the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment protections of a jury trial and proof beyond a reasonable doubt, does the arbitrary classification violate equal protection?

4. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to a jury trial and due process of law guarantee an accused person the right to a jury determination beyond a reasonable doubt of any fact necessary to elevate the punishment for a crime above the otherwise-available statutory maximum. Were Mr. Wright's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights violated when a judge, not a jury, found by a preponderance of the evidence that he had a prior most serious offense,

thus elevating his punishment from the otherwise-available statutory maximum to life without the possibility of parole?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 11, 2013, at about 12:30 in the morning, Clarence Wright knocked on the door of Mary Tillman's apartment in Tukwila. 9/2/2014RP 51; 9/4/2014RP 22. Living with Ms. Tillman was her son, Nathaniel Tillman. 9/2/2014RP 74. Also spending that night in the apartment was Ms. Tillman's estranged husband, Jay Tillman. 9/2/2014RP 74-75, 9/4/2014RP 20. None of the Tillman family claimed to have known Mr. Wright. 9/2/2014RP 87-88, 9/4/2014RP 35-36.

According to the Tillmans, Mr. Wright attempted to enter the apartment while carrying a handgun. 9/4/2014RP 23. A brawl ensued where Jay Tillman and Nathaniel Tillman as well as Mr. Wright received gunshot wounds. Mr. Wright never said anything prior to, during, or after the struggle.¹ 9/2/2014RP 88, 9/4/2014RP 30. Once shot, Mr. Wright ran away and was stopped by the police a short distance from the apartment. 9/2/2014RP 83-85, 9/4/2014RP 31-32.

¹ Nathaniel Tillman was shot in the thigh, while Jay Tillman was shot in the abdomen, penetrating his lung and stomach, and causing the loss of his spleen. 9/2/2014RP 86-87, 9/4/2014RP 34-35.

The police found an early 1900's .38 caliber handgun in the foyer of the Tillman apartment. 9/2/2014RP 111, 122-25, 128.

Mr. Wright was charged with two counts of first degree assault and one count of first degree burglary, and one count of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1-3. At trial, over defense objections, the court under ER 404(b) admitted evidence of a 2013 California robbery involving Mr. Wright for which he had yet to be charged or convicted. CP 212-14; 8/21/2014RP 291. The California robbery occurred on January 19, 2013, when Mr. Wright was alleged to have entered a cellular phone store in San Rafael and demanded money. 8/21/2014RP 215. When the two employees in this robbery fled to a backroom, Mr. Wright was alleged to have fired a single shot from a handgun and then fleeing without any money. 8/21/2014RP 215-16.

San Rafael Police Officer Todd Berringer was notified by King County authorities that Mr. Wright had been arrested following the incident at the Tillman's. 8/21/2014RP 227. The detective flew to Washington and interviewed Mr. Wright. 8/21/2014RP 230. Mr. Wright admitted conducting the robbery in San Rafael and admitted firing a shot during the robbery. 8/21/2014RP 232. He also admitted the handgun he used in California was the same handgun he possessed

during the Tillman incident. 8/21/2014RP 235. Mr. Wright said he chose the cellular phone store because he thought it would be an easy target as it was on U.S. 101, a main north-south freeway. 8/21/2014RP 233. The robbery was captured in video. 8/21/2014RP 216.

Over defense objection, the trial court admitted evidence of the California robbery on three bases: common scheme or plan, evidence of intent, and *res gestate*. CP 213; 8/21/2014RP 290-91; 9/17/2014RP 81-82. The court allowed the testimony of Detective Berringer but found the video more prejudicial than probative and only allowed testimony about what the video contained. *Id*.

Mr. Wright proffered a defense of diminished capacity. CP 40-43. Mr. Wright offered the expert opinion of Dr. Craig Beaver, a neuropsychologist, who opined that Mr. Wright lacked the capacity to form the requisite intent because of his intoxication that night and the alcohol's effect on Mr. Wright's prior traumatic brain injury suffered a year prior to the incident. 9/8/2014RP 1177-83, 112. The State countered with the expert opinion of Dr. Ray Hendrickson, a forensic psychologist at Western State Hospital, who disagreed with Dr. Beaver's conclusion and opined that Mr. Wright's actions were not the result of diminished capacity to form the requisite intent, but deliberate goal-driven behavior. 9/16/2014RP 77, 138.

At the completion of trial, the jury rejected Mr. Wright's diminished capacity defense and found him guilty as charged. CP 209-11. The trial court found that Mr. Wright had suffered two previous qualifying convictions, declared him a persistent offender, and imposed a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. CP 260.

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. The evidence admitted pursuant to ER 404(b) proved nothing more than Mr. Wright acted in conformity with a character trait which violated his right to a fair trial

a. The admission of other acts evidence violates the due process right to a fair trial.

Erroneous evidentiary rulings violate due process by depriving the defendant of a fundamentally fair trial. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; *Estelle v. McGuire,* 502 U.S. 62, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385 (1991); *Pulley v. Harris*, 465 U.S. 37, 41, 104 S.Ct. 871, 79 L.Ed.2d 29 (1984). Generally, the mere failure to comply with state evidentiary rules does not violate due process. *Jammal v. Van de Kamp*, 926 F.2d 918, 919-20 (9th Cir. 1991). But, mere compliance with state evidentiary and procedural rules does not *guarantee* compliance with the requirements of due process. *Id., citing Perry v. Rushen*, 713 F.2d 1447, 1453 (9th Cir. 1983), *cert. denied*, 469 U.S. 838 (1984). Due process *is* violated where the admission of evidence was arbitrary or so prejudicial that it rendered the trial fundamentally unfair. *Walters v. Maass*, 45 F.3d 1355, 1357 (9th Cir. 1995); *Colley v. Sumner*, 784 F.2d 984, 990 (9th Cir. 1986).

b. Evidence of a person's prior actions cannot be admitted to prove he acted in conformity with that trait.

ER 404(b) prohibits the use of evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.² Under ER 404(b), evidence of other misconduct is not allowed to show that the defendant is a "criminaltype person" likely to commit the crime charged. *State v. Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007). ER 404(b) is intended to prevent application by jurors of the common assumption "that 'since he did it once, he did it again." *State v. Bacotqarcia*, 59 Wn.App. 815, 822, 801 P.2d 993 (1990), *review denied*, 116 Wn.2d 1020 (1991).

 $^{^2}$ "Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion." ER 404(a).

"This prohibition encompasses not only prior bad acts and unpopular behavior but *any* evidence offered to 'show the character of a person to prove the person acted in conformity' with that character at the time of a crime." *Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 175 (emphasis in original). This rule is "not designed 'to deprive the State of relevant evidence necessary to establish an essential element of its case,' but rather to prevent the State from suggesting that a defendant is guilty because he or she is a criminal-type person who would be likely to commit the crime charged." *Id.* "In no case . . . may the evidence be admitted to prove the character of the accused in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith." *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 362, 655 P.2d 697 (1982).

The same evidence may be admissible for other purposes though, depending on its relevance and the balancing of the probative value and danger of unfair prejudice. *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). ER 404(b) includes a nonexclusive list of permissible purposes for admitting evidence of a person's other bad acts.³

³ "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity,

The law resists criminal convictions based upon the jury's view that the defendant is a bad person or has a history of bad conduct. Therefore, the trial court must begin with the presumption that evidence of prior misconduct is inadmissible. State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). However, when demonstrated, such evidence may be admissible for purposes "such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995), quoting ER 404(b). Before the trial court admits evidence of prior misconduct under ER 404(b), it must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the prior misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for admitting the evidence, (3) determine the relevance of the evidence to prove an element of the crime, and (4) weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009);

DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d at 17. The latter factor inserts an ER 403 examination into an ER 404(b) analysis. "Unfair prejudice" is caused by evidence that is likely to arouse an emotional response rather than a rational decision. *State v. Rice*, 48 Wn.App. 7, 13, 737 P.2d 726 (1987).

intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b).

The burden of demonstrating a proper purpose for admitting evidence of a person's prior bad acts is on the proponent of the evidence. *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 17. The court must conduct this analysis on the record. *State v. Sublett*, 156 Wn.App. 160, 195, 231 P.3d 231 (2010), *aff'd*, 176 Wn.2d 58 (2012). Courts should resolve doubts as to admissibility of prior bad acts character evidence under ER 404(b) in favor of exclusion. *State v. Thang*, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002), *citing State v. Smith*, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986).

The question to be answered in applying ER 404(b) is not whether a defendant's prior bad acts are logically relevant; they are. Evidence that a criminal defendant is a "criminal type" is always relevant. But ER 404(b) reflects the long-standing policy to exclude most character evidence because

> it is said to weigh too much with the jury and to so overpersuade them. . . . The overriding policy of excluding such evidence, despite its admitted probative value, is the practical experience that its disallowance tends to prevent confusion of issues, unfair surprise and undue prejudice.

Michelson v. United States, 335 U.S. 469, 476, 69 S.Ct. 213, 93 L.Ed. 168 (1948).

Thus, the question to be answered in applying ER 404(b) is whether the prior act was relevant for a purpose other than showing Mr. Wright's propensity.

c. The evidence of the California robbery was not res gestate evidence.

Among the bases for admitting the evidence of the prior California robbery was the evidence constituted *res gestate* evidence. The trial court erred in admitting the evidence on this ground as it did not constitute *res gestae* evidence.

Under the *res gestae* exception to ER 404(b), admission of evidence of other crimes or bad acts is allowed to complete the story of a crime or to provide the context for events close in time and place. *Powell*, 126 Wn.2d at 254. The purpose of the evidence is not to demonstrate the defendant's character but to show the "sequence of events surrounding the charged offense." *State v. Hughes*, 118 Wn.App. 713, 725, 77 P.3d 681 (2003). "Each act must be 'a piece in the mosaic necessarily admitted in order that a complete picture be depicted for the jury." *Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, *quoting State v. Tharp*, 27 Wn.App. 198, 204, 616 P.2d 693 (1980). Such evidence is "restricted to proving the *immediate* context within which a charged crime took place." *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 576, 940 P.2d 546 (1997) (emphasis in original).

Here, the California robbery was not within the immediate context of the Tukwila incident. The two incidents occurred approximately two months apart and involved separate victims who did not know one another; the evidence did not relate to a single sequence of events, but to two different situations in two different states. In addition, the two incidents are not related in any way; in the California robbery it was clear Mr. Wright was trying to take money; in the Tukwila case it was unclear why Mr. Wright tried to enter the apartment. The State's conclusion was that Mr. Wright was engaged in an attempt to rob the Tillmans, but there was nothing more to support this conclusion. Mr. Wright attempted to enter the house but said nothing and was never able to enter. The evidence of the prior California robbery was not *res gestae* evidence.

d. *The State failed to establish the California robbery was part of a common scheme or plan.*

The court also admitted the California robbery under the common scheme or plan exception to ER 404. Again, the trial court erred as the evidence did not fall under this exception. Prior conduct evidence is admissible to show a common scheme or plan under ER 404(b) where (1) the evidence of the prior act was part of a larger, overarching plan; or (2) the evidence of prior act followed a single plan to commit separate but very similar crimes. *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 19. Such a common scheme or plan "may be established by evidence that the Defendant committed markedly similar acts of misconduct against similar victims under similar circumstances." *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 852, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). Evidence of such a plan "must demonstrate not merely similarity in results, but such occurrence of common features that the various acts are naturally to be explained as caused by a general plan of which the charged crime and the prior misconduct are the individual manifestations." *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 19, *quoting Lough*, 125 Wn.2d at 860.

When evaluating whether the prior and current conduct are part of a common scheme or plan, the trial court examines the whole, not a part, of the planning, preparation, and execution of the misconduct. "[T]he preferred approach is for the trial court to focus on the closeness of the relationship between the other misconduct and the charged crimes in terms of time, place and modus operandi." *Lough*, 125 Wn.2d

at 858. Although a unique modus operandi is one factor to consider, the crux of the inquiry is similarity, not uniqueness. *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 20. The degree of similarity for the admission of evidence of a common scheme or plan must be substantial. *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 20.

The Supreme Court has stated that "'caution is called for in application of the common scheme or plan exception," *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 18, *quoting State v. DeVincentis*, 112 Wn.App. 152, 159, 47 P.3d 606 (2002), *aff'd*, 150 Wn.2d 11, 74 P.3d 119 (2003); "[r]andom similarities are not enough," "the degree of similarity ... must be substantial," and "admission of this kind of evidence requires more than merely similar results." *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

The evidence of the California robbery was not admissible as a common scheme or plan for the same reasons as it was not *res gestae* evidence; the California and Washington events were completely different from one another with the two offenses only sharing the fact that Mr. Wright was involved.

The State attempted to argue the similarities were substantial between the two incidents because Mr. Wright was attempting to rob the Tillmans as he had robbed the store in California. But there was no

support for this argument. Mr. Wright's motive in attempting to enter the Tillman's apartment was unclear. Mr. Wright never said anything during the struggle at the entrance to the apartment and he never entered the residence. Thus, the evidence of the California prior incident was not part of a common scheme or plane and should not have been admitted as such.

e. The California robbery was not properly admitted as evidence of Mr. Wright's intent.

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