72608-1

FILED
December 7, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

72608-1

NO. 72608-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CLARENCE WRIGHT III,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH BERNS

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DAVID SEAVER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

A.	ISSUES PRESENTED	
B.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
	1.	PROCEDURAL FACTS1
	2.	SUBSTANTIVE FACTS2
C.	ARGUMENT	
	1.	THE TRIAL APPROPRIATELY ALLOWED THE STATE TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF WRIGHT'S RECENT ATTEMPTED ROBBERY IN CALIFORNIA.7
	2.	THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED WRIGHT'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL AND NEW TRIAL DUE TO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT
	3.	WRIGHT WAS LAWFULLY SENTENCED AS A PERSISTENT OFFENDER
D.	CON	CLUSION24

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

Table of Cases

Federal:				
<u>Alleyne v. United States</u> , U.S, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2013)				
Washington State:				
State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997) 19, 21				
<u>State v. Burkins</u> , 94 Wn. App. 677, 973 P.2d 15 (1999)				
<u>State v. Dhaliwal</u> , 150 Wn.2d 559, 79 P.3d 432 (2003)21				
<u>State v. Johnson</u> , 124 Wn.2d 57, 873 P.2d 514 (1994)20				
<u>State v. Langstead</u> , 155 Wn. App. 448, 228 P.3d 799, <u>rev. denied</u> , 170 Wn.2d 1009 (2010)23, 24				
State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 822 P.2d 177 (1991)				
State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)				
<u>State v. Lough</u> , 70 Wn. App. 302, 853 P.2d 920, <u>aff'd</u> , 125 Wn.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)11				
State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 718 P.2d 407 (1986)				
State v. Medrano, 80 Wn. App. 108, 906 P.2d 982 (1995)14				
State v. Perez-Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808, 265 P.3d 853 (2011) 20				
State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995)21				
State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 893 P.2d 615 (1995)				
State v. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d 186, 196 P.3d 705 (2008)24				

State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 655 P.2d 697 (1982)					
State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)8					
<u>State v. Williams</u> , 156 Wn. App. 482, 234 P.3d 1174, <u>rev. denied</u> , 170 Wn.2d 1011 (2010)24					
<u>State v. Witherspoon,</u> 171 Wn. App. 271, 286 P.3d 996, <u>rev.</u> <u>granted on other gds. and aff'd,</u> 180 Wn.2d 875, 329 P.3d 888 (2014)24					
State v. Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d 875, 329 P.3d 888 (2014) 23					
State. Stith, 71 Wn. App. 14, 856 P.2d 415 (1993)					
Rules and Regulations					
Washington State:					
ER 4028					
ER 403 8					
ED 404/b) 7 8 10 12					

A. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1) Whether the trial court properly admitted evidence of Wright's weeks-earlier attempted armed robbery of another victim in order to prove intent, to show a common scheme, and to provide a more complete picture of Wright's actions on the night of the charged crimes.
- 2) Whether the trial court properly denied motions for mistrial and new trial due to purported instances of prosecutorial misconduct during the State's cross-examination of Wright's psychological expert witness.
- 3) Whether the trial court properly sentenced Wright to life imprisonment without possibility of parole after determining that he was a persistent offender.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

The appellant, Clarence Wright III, was charged by information with one count of first-degree burglary and two counts of first-degree assault arising out of a home invasion he committed in Tukwila on February 11, 2013. CP 1-2. Wright was charged in the same information with one count of first-degree unlawful

possession of a firearm, but that charge was severed by the trial court on Wright's pretrial motion. CP 2-3; CP 28.

By jury verdicts rendered on September 18, 2014, Wright was found guilty as charged on the burglary and assault charges. CP 209-11. The trial court sentenced Wright to a term of life imprisonment without possibility of parole after determining that he was a persistent offender. CP 260.

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

On the very early morning of February 11, 2013, Jay Tillman was asleep with other members of his family in their apartment in Tukwila when he was awakened by a knock at the front door.

14RP 20-22. Looking through the door's peephole, Jay² mistakenly believed that he recognized the person on the other side as a neighbor, and opened the door. 14RP 22-23. In doing so, Jay came face to face with Wright, a complete stranger, who walked into the now-open doorway and immediately thrust a revolver at

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings consists of 23 volumes, referred to in this brief as follows: 1RP (9/11/2013); 2RP (12/4/2013); 3RP (2/14/2014); 4RP (4/18/2014); 5RP (8/14/2014); 6RP (8/19/2014); 7RP (8/21/2014); 8RP (8/25/2014); 9RP (8/27/2014); 10RP (8/28/2014); 11RP (also 8/28/2014); 12RP (9/2/2014); 13RP (9/3/2014); 14RP (9/4/2014); 15RP (also 9/4/2014); 16RP (9/8/2014); 17RP (9/9/2014); 18RP (9/10/2014); 19RP (9/16/2014); 20RP (9/17/2014); 21RP (9/18/2014); 22RP (10/23/2014); 23RP (4/9/2015).
² A number of members of the Tillman family testified at Wright's trial, and will be referred to in this brief by their first names to avoid confusion. No disrespect to the Tillman family is intended.

Jay. 14RP 23, 36. In fear, Jay reached for Wright's gun as Wright pushed him backward, causing Jay to fall onto a couch. 14RP 23. As Jay was falling, Wright fired his gun, striking Jay in the abdomen. 14RP 24. Jay continued to try to pry the gun from Wright's hand, but was rapidly losing strength due to his injury. 14RP 25.

Jay's 20-year-old son, Nathanial Tillman, was awakened by his father's struggle with Wright and ran to help him. 12RP 76. He attempted to put Wright in a headlock; Wright shot Nathanial in the leg. 12RP 76, 81. Jay managed to wrest the gun from Wright and shot at Wright, hitting him once in the shoulder. 14RP 28. Wright then stumbled out of the apartment. 14RP 31.

Jay's wife, Mary, called 911, and officers with the Tukwila Police Department (TPD) quickly responded to the scene. 12RP 53, 61. When TPD Sergeant Rory Mettlin arrived, he located Wright running from the area in the direction described by onlookers; Mettlin ordered Wright to stop and Wright briefly complied, before continuing to run away. 12RP 111. With the assistance of a K-9, Mettlin and other officers engaged in a foot pursuit, finally locating Wright hiding under an apartment balcony. 12RP 64-67. When Wright failed to obey the officers' orders to

surrender, the police dog was released and bit Wright, causing him to fall down a hillside, where he was ultimately placed under arrest. 13RP 16-17, 19-21. Wright's gun was recovered from the Tillmans' apartment and placed into evidence, along with a pair of gloves belonging to Wright, which he had abandoned during the pursuit. 12RP 127-28, 176-77; 14RP 121.

TPD investigators quickly discovered that a warrant had been issued in California for Wright's arrest, and contacted the relevant agency in that state, the City of San Rafael Police Department (SRPD). 14RP 45, 60. On February 12, 2013, SRPD Detective Todd Berringer arrived from California and interviewed Wright regarding an attempted armed robbery of a cell phone store that had occurred in his jurisdiction on January 18, 2013. 14RP 48-51, 61-62. Wright admitted to committing the crime, explaining that he wanted to obtain money so he could visit his daughter in Seattle and bring her gifts. 14RP 67-68, 73. Wright acknowledged that he had shot at the store's employees when they began to run to the back of the store as soon as he'd entered, revolver in hand. 14RP 48-49, 67-68. Wright told Det. Berringer that he had used the same gun at the Tukwila apartment. 14RP 70.

In an interview with TPD Det. Ron Corrigan a day earlier, Wright said that he had been drinking gin all day and could not explain why he had ended up at the Tillmans' apartment. 14RP 106. He claimed that he did not have a gun or gloves with him, and knew only that he had been put in a headlock and been beaten before he was shot. 14RP 106-07.

Wright did not testify in his own defense, but called psychologist Dr. Craig Beaver to testify as an expert witness. 16RP 8-9. Dr. Beaver testified that he had conducted a forensic neurological examination of Wright, and concluded that brain damage caused by a head injury that Wright had suffered in September 2012, coupled with Wright's intoxication,³ rendered Wright incapable of forming criminal intent when he invaded the Tillmans' home on February 11, 2013. 16RP 112. On crossexamination, Dr. Beaver recognized that Wright committed both the Tukwila and California crimes after the brain injury that Dr. Beaver believed caused Wright to be unable to form criminal intent, though Dr. Beaver acknowledged that he saw no reason to doubt that

³ Toxicology testing at the hospital at which Wright was treated (for his gunshot and dog bite wounds) immediately after his arrest showed that he had a blood alcohol content level of .181. 16RP 59. Wright told Dr. Beaver that he had been drinking alcohol on a daily basis for several months. 17RP 33.

Wright's California robbery was anything other than intentional.

17RP 28.

In its rebuttal case, the State presented the testimony of Western State Hospital forensic psychologist Dr. Ray Hendrickson, who agreed with Dr. Beaver that Wright suffered from substance abuse and depression, but found no indications of dementia that would affect Wright's capacity to form intent. 18RP 633; 19RP 25-27. Dr. Hendrickson explained to the jury that Wright's level of alcohol intoxication was not so great as to cause delirium or to otherwise interfere with general functioning, and noted that neither the treating hospital or police officers who interacted with Wright observed him to be highly inebriated. Dr. Hendrickson further observed that Wright's flight from the scene and his attempt to hide from police indicated that he was engaging in goal-directed behavior. 19RP 141-42.

The State concluded its rebuttal case by publishing to the jury a recording of phone calls that Wright made while in jail, awaiting trial on the instant matter. State's Exs. 115, 116. In one call, Wright indicates to the man with whom he was speaking that he was "playing crazy" to assist in his defense. State's Exs. 115, 116.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL APPROPRIATELY ALLOWED THE STATE TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF WRIGHT'S RECENT ATTEMPTED ROBBERY IN CALIFORNIA.

Wright first contends that the trial court erred by permitting the State to present evidence of his attempted robbery of a store in San Rafael, California, roughly three weeks prior to his invasion of the Tillman family's home. Wright argues that the trial court misapplied ER 404(b) when it found that his prior crime was probative of his ability to form the intent to commit the charged offenses, was indicative of a common scheme, and was helpful to the jury insofar as it provided a more complete understanding of how he came to be at the Tillmans' Tukwila apartment. Wright's claim should be rejected. The trial court's conclusions were justified by well-established law and amounted to a reasonable exercise of its discretion.

Evidence of a defendant's prior acts is admissible under ER 404(b) if it satisfies two distinct criteria. First, the evidence must be logically relevant to a material issue before the jury. Evidence is relevant if (1) the identified fact for which the evidence is admitted is of consequence to the trial, and (2) the evidence tends to make

the existence of that fact more or less probable. ER 402; see also State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 362-63, 655 P.2d 697 (1982).

Second, if the evidence is relevant, its probative value must outweigh its potential for unfair prejudice. <u>Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 362.

Evidence of other bad acts is inadmissible if used only to prove criminal propensity. See ER 404(b). By contrast, when such evidence is logically relevant to a material issue distinct from propensity, such as proof of intent or motive, the evidence is admissible, subject to the balancing test described in ER 403.

Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d at 362.

A trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). A trial court abuses its discretion only when its exercise of judgment is manifestly unreasonable, or based upon untenable grounds or reasons. State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). Furthermore, a trial court's decision to admit evidence of prior misconduct under ER 404(b) will be upheld if any one of its cited bases is justified. Powell, 126 Wn.2d at 264.

Here, the trial court admitted evidence showing that Wright had, on January 19, 2013, attempted to rob, at gunpoint, a small

store in San Rafael, CA. In an interview with San Rafael investigators shortly after his arrest in Tukwila, Wright admitted his culpability for that offense, explaining that he committed the act in order to obtain money so he could visit his daughter in Seattle and bring gifts purchased with the proceeds of his crime. 7RP 233. Wright acknowledged that he used the same gun in California and at the Tillmans' home, that he had fired the gun shortly after he entered the San Rafael store in order to obtain the compliance of the store's employees, and that he had worn gloves on both occasions. 7RP 232-36.

Following a pretrial hearing, the trial court ruled that it would allow the State to present proof, in the form of testimony by San Rafael investigators,⁴ of Wright's January 2013 attempted robbery, because it was probative of intent and amounted to both common scheme and *res gestae* evidence. 7RP 290-91. The court found that the legitimate value of this evidence outweighed any risk of unfair prejudice, and directed defense counsel to submit a limiting instruction if they so elected. 7RP 290-91. Such an instruction was included in the trial court's closing instructions to the jury. CP 195.

⁴ The trial court refused to allow the State to show video of the California crime, captured by the victim store's surveillance camera, to the jury, on the ground that it would unfairly prejudice Wright. 7RP 291.

In order to understand the trial court's reasoning, it is crucial to bear in mind several facts. First, Wright's selection of the Tillman home was, by all accounts, completely random, insofar as he had no prior relationship with the Tillmans, such that his decision to invade their home could be attributable to some earlier interaction with one or more members of that family. Second, Wright's attempt to enter the Tillmans' apartment was interrupted by Jay's active resistance; as a result, Wright was deprived of the fullest opportunity to manifest his entire intent by completing his preplanned crime. Third, Wright posited his defense on a claim of diminished capacity due to organic brain damage as a result of a head injury predating both the California and Tukwila crimes, coupled with acute intoxication.

With these facts in mind, the trial court's conclusions were wholly justified. Under the *res gestae* exception to ER 404's general prohibition, evidence of prior bad acts is admissible to "complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context of happenings near in time or place." <u>Powell</u>, 126 Wn.2d at 263 (citation omitted). As the <u>Powell</u> court explained, each act must be a "piece of the mosaic necessarily admitted in order that a complete picture be depicted for the jury." <u>Id.</u> (citation omitted).

As Wright explained to the San Rafael, CA, detective following his arrest in Tukwila, he attempted the armed robbery of the store in California approximately three weeks earlier so he could finance a visit to his daughter in the Seattle area and be able to buy gifts for her. The attempted robbery in San Rafael thereby evidenced his intent to come to Washington, both to see his daughter and to avoid capture for his California crime, and, more importantly, it suggested that he was financially incapable of making the trip using his own resources, and had decided to steal money in order to do so. The res gestae evidence of the San Rafael incident thus allowed the jury to see his invasion of the Tillmans' home in a more complete light, as a calculated act by a fleeing felon in desperate need of money, rather than as a mysterious, inexplicable happenstance.

As this Court explained in <u>State v. Lough</u>, 70 Wn. App. 302, 853 P.2d 920, <u>aff'd</u>, 125 Wn.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995), there are two categories of evidence that may be sufficient to demonstrate a common scheme or plan: (1) evidence of a single plan used to commit separate but similar crimes, and (2) evidence of multiple acts or events that constitute parts of a larger, overarching plan in which the prior acts are causally related to the charged offense.

Lough, 70 Wn. App. at 302. In this case, the trial court explained that it was admitting evidence of the San Rafael attempted armed robbery because it bore significant similarities to the Tukwila event. 7RP 290-91. In other words, Wright used the same approach to commit separate but similar offenses.

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